THE MARCH TO MEXICO.

CHAPTER LXXXII

How we went to the City of Cholula,! and of the great reception
which they gave us there.

A NE morning we started on our march
to the city of Cholula and we took
the greatest possible precautions, for,
as I have often said, where we expected
to encounter tumults or wars we were
much more on the alert.

That day we went on to sleep at a
river which runs within a short league of Cholula, where
there is now a stone bridge, and there they put up for us
some huts and ranchos. This same night the Caciques of
Cholula sent some chieftains to bid us welcome to their
country, and they brought supplies of poultry and maize
bread, and said that in the morning all the Caciques and
priests would come out to receive us, and they asked us to
forgive their not having come sooner. Cortés told them

1 Blotted out in the original “ On the twelfth day of October in the
year fifteen hundred and nineteen.”—G. G.
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2 CORTES REACHES CHOLULA

through our interpreters Dofia Marina and . Jerénimo de
Aguilar, that he thanked them both for the food they had
brought and for the good will which they showed us.

We slept there that night after posting watchmen and
spies and scouts, and at dawn we began to march towards
the city. As we were going along and were already close
to the town, the Caciques and priests and many other
Indians came out to receive us. Most of them were
clothed in cotton garments made like tunics, such as the
Zapotec Indians wear, I say this for those persons who
have been in that province and have seen them, for that is
what they wear in that city. They came in a most peace-
able manner and willingly, and the priests carried braziers
containing incense with which they fumigated our Captain
and us soldiers who were standing near him. When these
priests and chiefs saw the Tlaxcalan Indians who came
with us, they asked Dofia Marina to tell the General that it
was not right that their enemies with arms in their hands
should enter their city in that manner. When our Captain
understood this, he ordered the soldiers and the baggage to
halt, and, when he saw us all together and that no one was
moving, he said—*“ It seems to me, Sirs, that before we
enter Cholula these Caciques and priests should be put to
the proof with a friendly speech, so that we can see what
their wishes may be; for they come complaining of our
friends the Tlaxcalans and they have much cause for what
they say, and | want to make them understand in fair
words the reason why we come to their city, and as you
gentlemen already know, the Tlaxcalans have told us that
the Cholulans are a turbulent people, and, as it would be a
good thing that by fair means they should render their
obedience to His Majesty, this appears to me to be the
proper thing to do.” |

Then he told Dofia Marina to call up the Caciques and
priests to where he was stationed on horseback with all of
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AND MAKES A SPEECH TO THE PEOPLE. 3

us around him, and three chieftains and two priests came at
once, and they said —* Malinche, forgive us for not coming
to Tlaxcala to see you and to bring food, it was not for
want of good will but because Mase Escasi and Xicotenga
and all Tlaxcala are our enemies, and have said many evil
things of us and of the Great Montezuma our Prince, and
as though what they said were not enough, they now have
the boldness, under your protection, to come armed into
our city, and we beg you as a favour to order them to
return to their own country, or at least to stay outside
in the fields and not to enter our city in such a manner.”
But as for us they said that we were very welcome.

As our Captain saw that what they said was reasonable,
he at once sent Pedro de Alvarado and Cristébal de Olid,
the Quartermaster, to ask the Tlaxcalans to put up their
huts and ranchos there in the fields, and not to enter the
city with us, excepting those who were carrying the
cannon, and our friends from Cempoala, and he told
them to explain to the Tlaxcalans that the reason why he
asked them to do so was that all the Caciques and priests
were afraid of them, and that when we left Cholula on our
way to Mexico we would send to summmon them, and that
they were not to be annoyed at what he was doing. When
the people of Cholula knew what Cortés had done, they
appeared to be much more at ease.

Then Cortés began to make a speech to them, saying
that our Lord and King, whose vassals we were, had very
great power and held beneath his sway many great princes
and Caciques, and that he had sent us to these countries to
give them warning, and command them not to worship
Idols, nor sacrifice human beings, or eat their flesh, or
practice sodomy or other uncleanness, and as the road to
Mexico, whither we were going to speak with the Great
Montezuma, passed by there, and there was no other.

shorter road, we had come to visit their city and to treat
B2
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4 MONTEZUMA INCITES THE PEOPLE OF CHOLULA

them as brothers. As other great Caciques had given their
obedience to His Majesty, it would be well that they should
give theirs as the others had done.

They replied that we had hardly entered into their
country, yet we already ordered them to give up their
Teules (for so they called their Idols), and that they could
not do it. As to giving their obedience to our King,
they were content to do so. And thus they pledged their
word, but it was not done before a notary. When this was
over we at once began our march towards the City, and so
great was the number of people who came out to see us that
both the streets and house tops were crowded, and I do not
wonder at this for they had never seen men such as we are,
nor had they ever secen horses.

They lodged us in some large rooms where we were
all together with our friends from Cempoala and the
Tlaxcalans who carried the baggage, and they fed us on
that day and the next very well and abundantly. I will
stop here and go on to say what else happened.

CHAPTER LXXXIII.

How, at the orders of Montezuma, they had planned to kill us in the
City of Cholula, and what happened about it.
AFTER the people of Cholula had received us in the festive
manner already described, and most certainly with [a show
of] good will, it presently appeared that Montezuma sent
orders to his ambassadors, who were still in our company,
to negotiate with the Cholulans that an army of 20,000
men which Montezuma had sent and equipped, should
on entering the city, join with them in attacking us by
night or by day, get us into a hopeless plight,! and bring all

! Acapillasen literally, place us in chapel, ze., the place where
those condemned to death spend their last night.
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TO KILL AND CAPTURE THE SPANIARDS. 5

of us that they could [capture] bound to Mexico. And he
sent grand promises together with many presents of jewels
and cloths, also a golden drum, and he also sent word to
the priests of the city that they were to retain twenty of
us to sacrifice to their idols.

All was in readiness and the warriors whom Montezuma
quickly sent were stationed in some ranchos and some
rocky thickets about half a league from Cholula and some
were already posted within the houses, and all had their
arms ready for use, and had built up breastworks on the
Azoteas and had dug holes and ditches in the streets so as
to impede the horsemen, and they had already filled some
houses with long poles and leather collars and cords with
which they were to bind us and lead us te Mexico ; but
our Lord God so ordained that all their plots should be
turned against them.

Let us leave this now and go back to say that when,
as | have said, they had taken us to our quarters they fed
us very well for the first two days, and although we saw
them so peacefully inclined, we never gave up our good
custom of keeping fully prepared, and on the third day
they neither gave us anything to eat nor did any of the
Caciques or priests make their appearance, and if any
Indians came to look at us, they did not approach us, but
remained some distance off, laughing at us as though
mocking us. When our Captain saw this, he told our
interpreters Dofia Marina and Jerénimo de Aguilar to
tell the Ambassadors of the Great Montezuma, who
remained with us, to order the Caciques to bring some
food, but all they brought was water and fire wood, and
the old men who brought it said that there was no more
maize.

That same day other Ambassadors arrived from Mon-
tezuma, and joined those who were already with us and
they said to Cortés, very impudently, that their Prince bad
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6 INTERVENTION OF THE NATIVE PRIESTS.

sent them to say that we were not to go to his city because
he had nothing to give us to eat, and that they wished at
once to return to Mexico with our reply. When Cortés saw
that their speech was unfriendly, he replied to the
Ambassadors in the blandest manner, that he marvelled
how such a great Prince as Montezuma should be so
vacillating, and he begged them not to return to Mexico,
for he wished to start himself on the next day, to see their
Prince, and act according to his orders, and I believe that
he gave the Ambassadors some strings of beads and they
agreed to stay.

When this had been done, our Captain called us together,
and said to us—“I see that these people are very much
disturbed, and it behoves us to keep on the alert, in case
some trouble is brewing among them,” and he at once sent
for the principal Cacique, whose name I now forget, telling
him either to come himself or to send some other chieftains.
The Cacique replied that he was ill and could not come.

When our Captain heard this, he ordered us to bring
before him, with kindly persuasion, two of the numerous
priests who were in the great Cue near our quarters. We
brought two of them, without doing them any disrespect,
and Cortés ordered each of them to be given a chalchihuite,
which are held by them to be as valuable as emeralds, and
addressing them with friendly words he asked them what
was the reason that the Cacique and chieftains and most of
the priests were frightened, for he had sent to summon
them and they did not want to come. It seems that one
of these priests was a very important personage among
them, who had charge of or command over all the Cues in
the City, and was a sort of Bishop among the priests and
was held in great respect. He replied that they, who were
priests, had no fear of us, and if the Cacique and
chieftain did not wish to come, he would go himself
and summon them, and that if he spoke to them he
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HOSTILE PREPARATIONS DISCOVERED. 7

believed they would do as he told them and would
come.

Cortés at once told him to go, and that his companion
should await his return. So the priests departed and
summoned the Cacique and chieftains who returned in his
company to Cortés’ quarters. Cortés asked them, through
our interpreters, what it was they were afraid of, and why
they had not given us anything to eat, and said that if our
presence in their city were an annoyance to them, we
wished to leave the next day for Mexico to see and speak
to the Lord Montezuma, and he asked them to provide
carriers for the transport of the baggage and Zepusques
(which are the cannon) and to send us some food at
once.

The Cacique was so embarrassed that he could hardly
speak, he said that they would look for the food, but
their Lord Montezuma had sent to tell them not to give
us any, and was not willing that we should proceed any
further.

While this conversation was taking place, three of our
friends, the Cempoala Indians, came in and said secretly to
Cortés, that close by where we were quartered they had
found holes dug in the streets, covered over with wood and
earth, so that without careful examination one could not
see them, that they had removed the earth from above one
of the holes and found it full of sharp pointed stakes to kill
the horses when they galloped, and that the Azofeas had
breastworks of adobes' and were piled up with stones, and
certainly this was not done with good intent for they also
found barricades of thick timbers in another street. At
this moment eight Tlaxcalans arrived, from the Indians
whom we had left outside in the fields with orders that
they were not to enter Cholula, and they said to Cortés—

31 1 Sun-dried bricks.
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8 CORTES IS WARNED OF DANGER.

“ Take heed, Malinche, for this City is ill disposed, and we
know that this night they have sacrificed to their Idol,
which is the God of War, seven persons, five of them
children, so that the God may give them victory over you,
and we have further seen that they are moving all their
baggage and women and children out of the city.” When
Cortés heard this, he immediately sent these Tlaxcalans
back to their Captains, with orders to be fully prepared if
we should send to summon them, and he turned to speak
to the Cacique, priests and chieftains of Cholula and told
them to have no fear and show no alarm, but to remember
the obedience which they had promised to him, and not to
swerve from it, lest he should have to chastise them. That
he had already told them that we wished to set out on the
morrow and that he had need of two thousand! warriors
from the city to accompany us, just as the Tlaxcalans had
provided them, for they were necessary on the road. They
replied that the men would be given, and asked leave to go
at once to get them ready, and they went away very well
contented, for they thought that between the warriors
with whom they were to supply us, and the regiments
sent by Montezuma, which were hidden in the rocky
thickets and barrancas, we could not escape death or
capture, for the horses would not be able to charge
on account of certain breastworks and barricades which
they immediately advised the troops to construct, so that
only a narrow lane would be left through which it would be
impossible for us to pass. They warned the Mexicans to
be in readiness as we intended to start on the next day and
told them that they were going to give us two thousand?
warriors to accompany us, so that as we marched along,
off our guard, between the two forces our capture would

1 « Blotted out “three or four.”—G. G.
2 Blotted out “four.”--G. G.
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FULL DISCLOSURE OF THE PLO1I. 9

be sure and they would be able to bind us, and this
they might look on as a certainty, for they [the Cholulans]
had made sacrifices to their War Idols who had promised
them victory.

Let us cease speaking of this which they looked on as a
sure thing and return to our Captain who, as he wished to
be more thoroughly informed about the plot and all that
was happening, told Dofla Marina to take more chalchi-
huites to the two priests who had been the first to speak,
for they were not afraid, and to tell them with friendly
words that Malinche wished them to come back and speak
to him, and to bring them back with her. Dofla Marina
went and spoke to the priests in the manner she knew so
well how to use, and thanks to the presents they at once
accompanied her. Cortés addressed them and asked them
to say truly what they knew, for they were the priests of
Idols and chieftains and ought not to lie, and that what
they should say would not be disclosed in any manner,
for we were going to leave the next morning, and he
would give them a large quantity of cloth. They said
the truth was that their Lord Montezuma knew that we
were coming to their city, and that every day he was of
many minds and could not come to any decision on the
matter, that sometimes he sent to order them to pay us
much respect when we arrived and to guide us on the way
to his city, and at other times he would send word that
it was not his wish that we should go to Mexico, and
now recently his [Gods] Tescatepuca and Huichilobos,
to whom he paid great devotion, had counselled him that
we should either be killed here in Cholula or should be
sent, bound, to Mexico. That the day before he had
sent out twenty thousand warriors, and half of them
were already within this city and the other half were
stationed near by in some gullies, and that they already
knew that we were about to start to-morrow ; they also
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10 CORTES PREPARES A COUNTER PLOT.

told us about the barricades which they had ordered to be
made and the two thousand warriors that were to be given
to us, and how it had already been agreed that twenty of
us were to be kept to be sacrificed to the Idols of Cholula.

Cortés ordered these men to be given a present of richly
embroidered cloth, and told them not to say anything
[about the information they had given us] for, if they dis-
closed it, on our return from Mexico we would kill them.
He also told them that we should start early the next
morning, and he asked them to summon all the Caciques
to come then so that he might speak to them.

That night Cortés took counsel of us as to what should
be done, for he had very able men with him whose advice
was worth having, but as in such cases frequently happens,
some said that it would be advisable to change our course
and go by Huexotzingo, others that we must manage to
preserve the peace by every possible means and that it
would be better to return to Tlaxcala, others of us gave
our opinion that if we allowed such treachery to pass
unpunished, wherever we went we should be treated to
worse [treachery], and that being there in the town, with
ample provisions, we ought to make an attack, for the
Indians would feel the effect of it more in their own homes
than they would in the open, and that we should at once
warn the Tlaxcalans so that they might join in it. All
thought well of this last advice. As Cortés had already told
them that we were going to set out on the following day, for
this reason we should make a show of-tying together our
baggage, which was little enough,and then in the large
courts with high walls, where we were lodged, we should
fall on the Indian warriors, who well deserved their fate.
As regards the Ambassadors of Montezuma, we should
dissemble and tell them that the evil-minded Cholulans
had intended treachery and had attempted to put the
blame for it on their Lord Montezuma, and on themselves
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A WOOER FOR DONA MARINA. 11

as his Ambassadors, but we did not believe Montezuma
had given any such orders, and we begged them to stay
in their apartments and not have any further converse
with the people of the city, so that we should not have
reason to think they were in league with them in their
treachery, and we asked them to go with us as our
guides to Mexico.

They replied that neither they themselves nor their Lord
Montezuma knew anything about that which we were
telling them. Although they did not like it, we placed
guards over the Ambassadors, so that they could not go
out without our permission, and Montezuma should not
come to know that we were well aware how it was he
who had ordered it to be done.

All that night we were on the alert and under arms
with the horses saddled and bridled, and with many
sentinels and patrols, although indeed it was always our
custom to keep a good watch, for we thought that for
certain all the companies of the Mexicans as well as
the Cholulans would attack us during the night.

There was an old Indian woman, the wife of a Cacique,
who knew all about the plot and trap which had been
arranged, and she had come secretly to Dofia Marina our
interpreter, having noticed that she was young and goed
looking and rich, and advised her, if she wanted to escape
with her life, to come with her to her house, for it was
certain that on that night or during the next day we were
all going to be killed, for the Great Montezuma had so
arranged and commanded that the Mexicans and the
people of the city were to join forces, and not one of us
was to be left alive, except those who would be carried
bound to Mexico. Because she knew of this, and on
account of the compassion she felt for Dofia Marina, she
had come to tell her that she had better get all her
possessions together and come with her to her house, and

34«
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12 CORROBORATIVE EVIDENCE OF THE PLOT.

she would there marry her to her son, the brother of
a youth who was with another old woman who accom-
panied her.

When Dofia Marina understood this (as she was always
very shrewd) she said to her, “ O mother, thank you much
for this that you have told me, [ would go with you at once
but that I have no one here whom I can trust to carry my
clothes and jewels of gold of which I have many, for good-
ness sake, mother, wait here a little while, you and your
son, and to-night we will set out, for now, as you can see,
these Teules are on the watch and will hear us.”

The old woman believed what she said, and remained
chatting with her, and Dofia Marina asked her how they
were going to kill us all, and how and when and where the
plot was made. The old woman told her neither more nor
less than what the two priests had already stated, and
Dofia Marina replied—* If this affair is such a secret, how
is it that you came to know about it ?” and the old woman
replied that her husband had told her, for he was a captain
of one of the parties in the city, and as captain he was now
away with his warriors giving orders for them to join the
squadrons of Montezuma in the barrancas,and she thought
that they were already assembled waiting for us to set out,
and that they would kill us there; as to the plot she had
known about it for three days, for a gilded drum had been
sent to her husband from Mexico, and rich cloaks and
jewels of gold had been sent to three other captains to
induce them to bring us bound to their Lord Montezuma.

When Doiia Marina heard this she deceived the old
woman and said—“ How delighted I am to hear that your
son to whoimn you wish to marry me is a man of distinction.
We have already talked a good deal, and 1 do not want
them to notice us, so Mother you wait here while I begin
to bring my property, for I cannot bring it all at once, and
you and your son, my brother, will take care of it, and then

Diaz del Castillo, Bernal. The Conquest of New Spain, Vol. 2.
E-book, Nendeln: Kraus Reprint, 1967, https://hdl.handle.net/2027/heb06852.0002.001.

Downloaded on behalf of 3.144.90.204



THE CHOLULANS FEEL SURE OF SUCCESS. I3

we shall be able to go.” The old woman believed all that
was told her, and she and her son sat down to rest. Then
Doiia Marina went swiftly to the Captain and told him all
that had passed with the Indian woman. Cortés at once
ordered her to be brought before him, and questioned her
about these treasons and plots, and she told him neither
more nor less than the priests had already said, so he
placed a guard over the woman so that she could not
escape.

When dawn broke, it was a sight to see the haste with
which the Caciques and priests brought in the warriors,
laughing and contented as though they had already caught
us in their traps and nets, and they brought more Indian
warriors than we had asked for, and large as they are (for
they still stand as a memorial of the past) the courtyards
would not hold them all.

Early as it was when the Cholulans arrived with the
warriors, we were already quite prepared for what had to
be done. The soldiers with swords and shields were
stationed at the gate of the great court so as not to let
a single armed Indian pass out. Our Captain was mounted
on horseback with many soldiers round him, as a guard,
and when he saw how very early the Caciques and priests
and warriors had arrived, he said—*“ How these traitors
long to see us among the barrancas so as to gorge on our
flesh, but Our Lord will do better for us.” Then he asked
for the two priests who had let out the secret,and they told
him that they were at the gate of the courtyard with the
other Caciques who wished to come in, and he sent our
interpreter, Aguilar, to tell them to go to their houses, for
he had no need of their presence now. This was in order
that, as they had done us a good turn, they should not
suffer for it, and should not get killed. Cortés was on
horseback and Dofia Marina near to him, and he asked the
Caciques, why was it, as we had done them no harm what-
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14 CORTES ADDRESSES THE CHOLULANS

ever, that they had wished to kill us on the previous night?
and why should they turn traitors against us, when all we
had said or done was to warn them against certain things
of which we had already warned all the towns that we had
passed through, namely, that they should not be wicked
and sacrifice human beings, nor worship Idols, nor eat the
flesh of their neighbours, nor commit unnatural crimes, but
that they should live good lives; and to tell them about
matters concerning our holy faith, and this without com-
pulsion of any kind. To what purpose then had they quite
recently prepared many long and strong poles with collars
and cords and placed them in a house near to the Great
Temple, and why for the last three days had they been
building barricades and digging holes in the streets and
raising breastworks on the roofs of the houses, and why
had they removed their children and wives and property
from the city? Their ill will however had been plainly
shown, and they had not been able to hide their treason.
They had not even given us food to eat, and as a mockery
had brought us firewood and water, and said that there was
no maize. He knew well that in the barrancas near by,
there were many companies of warriors and many other
men ready for war who had joined the companies that
night, laying in wait for us, ready to carry out their
treacherous plans, thinking that we should pass along that
road towards Mexico. So in return for our having come
to treat them like brothers and to tell them what Our
Lord God and the King have ordained, they wished to kill
us and eat our flesh, and had already prepared the pots
with salt and peppers and tomatoes. If this was what they
wanted it would have been better for them to make war on
us in the open field like good and valiant warriors, as did
their neighbours the Tlaxcalans. He knew for certain all
that had been planned in the city and that they had even
prornised to their [dol, the patron of warfare, that twenty of
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AND PUNISHES THEIR TREACHERY. 1§

us should be sacrificed before it, and that three nights ago
they had sacrificed seven Indians to it so as to ensure vic-
tory, which was promised them ; but as the Idol was both
evil and false, it neither had, nor would have power against
us, and all these evil and traitorous designs which they had
planned and put into effect were about to recoil on them-
selves. Dofia Marina told all this to them and made them
understand it very clearly, and when the priests, Caciques,
and captains had heard it, they said that what had been
stated was true but that they were not to blame for it, for
the Ambassadors of Montezuma had ordered it at the
command of their Prince.

Then Cortés told them that the royal laws decreed that
such treasons as those should not remain unpunished and
that for their crime they must die. Then he ordered a
musket to be fired, which was the signal that we had
agreed upon for that purpose, and a blow was given to
them which they will remember for ever, for we killed many
of them,! so that they gained nothing from the promises
of their false Idols.

_Not two hours had passed before our allies, the Tlax-
calans, arrived, whom I have already said we had left out
in the fields, and they had fought very fiercely in the
streets where the Cholulans had posted other companies to
defend the streets and prevent their being entered, but these
were soon defeated. They [the Tlaxcalans] went about
the city, plundering and making prisoners and we could
not stop them, and the next day more companies from the
Tlaxcalan towns arrived, and did great damage, for they
were very hostile to the people of Cholula, and when we
saw this, both Cortés and the captains and the soldiers, on
account of the compassion that we had felt for them,
restrained the Tlaxcalans from doing further damace. and

1 Blotted out: “and others were burned.”—G. G,
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16 CORTES PARDONS THE SURVIVORS

Cortés ordered Cristébal de Olid to bring him all the
Tlaxcalan captains together so that he could speak to
them, and they did not delay in coming ; then he ordered
them to gather together all their men and go and camp in
the fields, and this they did, and only the men from
Cempoala remained with us.

Just then certain Caciques and priests of Cholula who
belonged to other districts of the town, and said that they
were not concerned in the treasons against us (for it is
a large city and they have parties and factions among
themselves), asked Cortés and all of us to pardon the
provocation of the treachery that had been plotted against
us, for the traitors had already paid with their lives. Then
there came the two priests who were our friends and
had disclosed the secret to us, and the old woman, the wife
of the captain, who wanted to be the mother-in-law of
Dofia Marina, as [ have already related, and all prayed
Cortés for pardon.

When they spoke to him, Cortés made a show of great
anger and ordered the Ambassadors of Montezuma, who
were detained in our company, to be summoned. He then
said that the whole city deserved to be destroyed, but that
out of respect for their Lord Montezuma, whose vassals
they were, he would pardon them, and that from now on
they must be well behaved, and let them beware of such
affairs as the last happening again, lest they should die
for it.

Then, he ordered the Chiefs of Tlaxcala, who were in
the fields, to be summoned, and told them to return the
men and women whom they had taken prisoners, for the
damage they had done was sufficient. Giving up the
prisoners went against the grain with them [the Tlax-
calans], and they said that the Cholulans had deserved far
greater punishment for the many treacheries they had con-
stantly received at their hands, Nevertheless as Cortés
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AND APPOINTS A NEW GOVERNOR. 17

ordered it, they gave back many persons, but they still
remained rich, both in gold and mantles, cotton cloth,
salt and slaves. Besides this Cortés made them and the
people of Cholula friends, and, from what I have since
seen and ascertained, that friendship has never been broken,

Furthermore Cortés ordered all the priests and Caciques
to bring back the people to the city, and to hold their
markets and fairs, and not to have any fear, for no harm
would be done to them. They replied that within five
days the city would be fully peopled again, for at that time
nearly all the inhabitants were in hiding. They said it
was necessary that Cortés should appoint a Cacique for
them, for their ruler was one of those who had died in the
Court, so he asked them to whom the office ought to
go, and they said to the brother [of the late Cacique]
so Cortés at once appointed him to be Governor, until
he should receive other orders.

In addition to this, as soon as he saw the city was
reinhabited, and their markets were carried on in safety,
he ordered all the priests, captains and other chieftains of
that city to assemble, and explained to them very clearly
all the matters concerning our holy faith, and told them
that they must cease worshipping idols, and must no longer
sacrifice human beings or eat their flesh, nor rob one
another, nor commit the offences which they were accus-
tomed to commit, and that they could see how their Idols
had deceived them, and were evil things not speaking
the truth; let them remember the lies which they told
only five days ago when seven persons had been sacrificed
to them and they promised to give them victory, therefore
as all they tell to the priests and to them is altogether evil,
he begged them to destroy the Idols and break them in
pieces. That if they did .not wish to do it themselves
we would do it for them. He also ordered them to white-
wash a temple, so that we might set up a cross there.

VOL. IL C
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18 DESCRIPTION OF CHOLULA.

They immediately did what we asked them in the
matter of the cross, and they said that they would remove
their Idols, but although they were many times ordered to
do it, they delayed. Then the Padre de la Merced said to
Cortés that it was going too far, in the beginning, to take
away their [dols until they should understand things better,
and should see how our expedition to Mexico would turn
out, and time would show us what we ought to do in the
matter, that for the present the warnings we had given
them were sufficient, together with the setting up of the
Cross.

I will cease speaking of this and will tell how that city
was situated on a plain, in a locality where there were
many neighbouring towns, such as Tepeaca, Tlaxcala,
Chalco, Tecamachalco, Huexotzingo and many others, so
numerous that I will not name them, and it is a land
fruitful in maize and other vegetables, and much Chili
pepper, and the land is full of Magueys from which they
make their wine. They make very gooed pottery in the
city of red and black and white clay with various designs,
and with it supply Mexico and all the neighbouring
provinces as, so to say, do Talavera or Placencia in Spain,
At that time there were many high towers in the city
which were their Cues or oratories where the Idols stood,
especially the Great Cue which was higher than that of
Mexico, although the Mexican Cue was very lofty and
magnificent. There were courts for the service of the Cues,
and, as we understood, they possessed a very great Idol
whose name I forget, but among themselves they held it in
great reverence, and people came from all parts to sacrifice
to it and to hold services like Novenas and to make
offerings of property they possessed. I remember that
when we entered into that city and saw such white and
lofty towers, it looked like Valladolid itself,

I must stop talking about this City and all that hap-
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MONTEZUMA IS ANNOYED. 19

pened there, and say that the Squadrons sent by the Great
Montezuma, which were already stationed in the ravines
near Cholula and had, as was agreed, constructed barri-
cades and narrow passages so that the horses could not
gallop, as I have already related, as soon as they learned
what had happened, returned, faster than at a walk, to
Mexico and told Montezuma how it all happened. But
fast as they went the news had alrecady rcached him,
through the two Chieftains who had been with us and who
went to him post-haste. We learned on good authority
that when Montezuma heard the news he was greatly
grieved and very angry, and at once sacrificed some
Indians to his Idol Huichilobos, whom they looked on as
the God of War, so that he might tell him what was to be
the result of our going to Mexico, or if he would permit us
to enter the city. We even knew that hc was shut in at
his devotions and sacrifices for two days in company with
ten of the Chief Priests, and that a reply came from those
Idols which was, that they advised him to send messengers
to us to disclaim all blame for the Cholulan affair, and that
with demonstrations of peace we should be allowed to
enter into Mexico, and that when we werc inside, by
depriving us of food and water, or by raising some of the
bridges, they would kill us; that one day only would
suffice, if he attacked us, to leave none of us alive, and
then he could offer his sacrifices to Huichilobos who had
given this reply, and to Tescatepuca the god of Hell, and
they could feast on our thighs and legs and arms, and the
snakes and serpents and tigers which they kept in wooden
cages, (as I shall tell later on at the proper time and place,)
could gorge on our entrails and bodies and all that was
left of us.

Let us stop talking about what Montezuma felt and say
how this affair and punishment at Cholula became known
throughout the provinces of New Spain and if we had a

cz2
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20 BIRNAL DIAZ PROTESTS AGAINST THE STGRY

reputation for valour before, (for they had heard of the
wars at Potonchan and Tabasco, of Cingapacinga and
Tlaxcala, and they called us Teules, which is to call us gods
or evil things), from now on they took us for sorcerers, and
said that no evil that was planned against us could be so
hidden from us that it did not come to our knowledge,
and on this account they showed us good will.

I think that the curious reader must be already satiated
hearing this story about Cholula and I wish that T had
finished writing about it, but I cannot avoid calling to mind
the prisons of thick wooden beams which we found in the
city, which were full of Indians and boys being fattened so
that they could be sacrificed and their flesh eaten. We
broke open all these prisons, and Cortés ordered all the
Indian prisoners that were confined within them to return
to their native countries, and with threats he ordered the
Caciques and captains and priests of the city not to
imprison any more Indians in that way, and not to eat
human flesh. They promised not to do so, but what use
were such promises ? as they never kept them.

Let us anticipate and say that these were the great
cruelties that the Bishop of Chiapas, Fray Bartolomé de las
Casas, wrote about and never ceased talking about,asserting
that for no reason whatever, or only for our pastime and
because we wanted to, we inflicted that punishment, and
he even says it so artfully in his book that he would make
those believe, who neither saw it themselves, nor know
about it, that these and other cruelties about which he
writes were true (as he states them) while it is altogether
the reverse of true! It did not happen as he describes it.
Let the monks of the order of Santo Domingo see what
they can read in the book in which he has written it, and

1 Blotted out in the original : “I beg your Lordship’s pardon for
stating it so clearly.”—G. G.
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OF FRAY BARTOLOME DE LAS CASAS. 21

they will find it to be very different the one from the other.
I als6 wish to say that some good Franciscan monks, who
were the first friars whom his Majesty sent to this New Spain
after the Conquest of Mexico, as I shall relate further on,
went to Cholula toinform themselves and find out how and
in what way that punishment was carried out, and for what
reason, and the enquiry that they made was from the same
priests and elders of the city, and after fully informing
themselves from these very men, they found it to be neither
more nor less than what 1 have written down in this
narrative, and not as the Bishop has related it. If per-
chance we had not inflicted that punishment, our lives
would have been in great danger on account of the squad-
rons and companies of Mexican and Cholulan warriors who
were there, and the barricades and breastworks, and if to
our misfortune they had killed us there, this New Spain
would not have been so speedily conquered, nor would
another Armada have dared to have come, and if it did, it
would have been under greater difficulty, for the Mexicans
would have defended their ports, and they would still have
continued in a state of Idolatry.

| have heard a Franciscan Friar called Fray Toribio
Motolinea, who led a good life, say that it would have been
better if that punishment could have been prevented, and
they had not given cause for its being carried out; but, as
it had been carried out, it was a good thing that all the
Indians of the provinces of New Spain should see and
understand that those Idols and all the rest of them were
evil and lying, for it showed that all their promises turned
out false, and they lost the adoration which the people had
hitherto given them, and thenceforth they would not sacri-
fice to them, nor come on pilgrimages to them from other
parts, as they used to do. From that time they did not
care for it [the principal Idol] and removed it from the lofty
cue where it had stood, and either hid it or broke it up, so
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22 CORTES CONSULTS HIS CAPTAINS

that it never appeared again, and they have put up another
Idol in its place. Let us leave this subject and I will relate
what we went on to do.

CHAPTER LXXXIV.

About certain messages and messengers that we sent to the
Great Montezuma.
As fourteen days had already passed since we had come to
Cholula we had nothing more to do there, for we saw that
the city was again fully peopled, and that they held their
markets, and we had established friendship between them
and the people of Tlaxcala; and we had also set up a
cross, and informed them about matters coucerning our
holy faith. But as we saw that the Great Montezuma was
secretly sending spies to our camp to enquire and find out
what our plans were and if we intended to go on to his
city (for he came to know everything very thoroughly
through the two Ambassadors who were in our company),
our Captain dctermined to take counsel of certain captains
and soldiers, whom he knew to be well disposed towards
him (who besides being very valiant, were wise counsellors),
because he never did anything without first asking our
advice about it. It was agreed that we should send to
tell the Great Montezuma, gently and amicably, that in
order to carry out the purpose for which our Lord and
King had sent us to these parts, (which was only to see
him and tell him certain things which would be greatly to
his benefit when he understood them), we had crossed
many seas and distant lands, and that while we were
inarching towards his city, his ambassadors had guided
us by way of Cholula, where they said the people were his
vassals, and for the first two days after our arrival the
people treated us very well, but on the next day they had
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AND SENDS A MESSAGE TO MONTEZUMA. 23

plotted a treason with the intention of killing us; and as
we are men of such character that it would be impossible
to hide any matter of double dealing, or treachery, or
iniquity, which they might wish to enact against us without
our knowing of it at once, for this reason we punished some
of those who intended to carry out the plot. As he [our
Captain] knew that they were his [Montezuma’s] subjects,
(it was only] out of respect for his person, and on account
of our great friendship, that he refrained from destroying
and killing all those who were concerned in the treason.
However, the worst of it all is that the priests and Caciques
say it was on his advice and command, and that of his
ambassadors, that they intended to do it. This of course
we never believed, that such a great prince as he is could
issue such orders, especially as he had declared himself our
friend, and we had inferred from his chardcter that since
his Idols had put such an evil thought as making war on
us into his head, he would surely fight us in the open
field; however, whether he fought in the open or in a
town, by day or by night, we would kill those who thought
of doing such a thing. But as we look upon him as our
great friend and wish to see and speak to him, we are
setting out at once for his city to give him a more com-
plete account of what Our Lord the King had commanded
us to do.

When Montezuma heard this message and learned
through the people of Cholula that we did not lay all
the blame on him, we heard it said that he returned again
with his priests to fast and make sacrifices to his Idols,
to know if they would again repeat their permission to
allow us to enter into the city or no, and whether they
would reiterate the commands they had already given him.
The answer which they gave was the same as the first,
that he should allow us to enter and that once inside the
city he could kill us when he chose. His captains and

30
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24 MONTEZUMA SENDS PRESENTS

priests also advised him that if he should place obstacles
in the way of our entry, we would make war on him through
his subject towns, seeing that we had as our friends the
Tlaxcalans, and all the Totonacs of the hills, and other
towns which had accepted our alliance, and to avoid these
evils the best and most sensible advice was that which
Huichilobos had given.

Let us stop talking about what Montezuma had decided,
and I will relate what he did about it and how we agreed to
set out for Mexico, and that when we were ready to start
messengers arrived from Montezuma with a present, and
what he sent to say.

CHAPTER LXXXV.

How the Great Montezuma sent a present of gold, and what he sent
to say to us, and how we decided to set out for Mexico, and what
else happened about it.

So the great Montezuma again took counsel with his
Huichilobos, and his priests and captains, and all advised
him to allow us to enter the city, as there he could kill us
in safety. When he heard the message which we sent
to him concerning our friendship and the other fearless
remarks, (to the effect that we were men from whom
no treason which was plotted against us could be hidden
without our finding it out, and that as for fighting, nothing
suited us better, either in the open fields or in the towns,
either by night or by day or in any way whatever) and as he
had heard about our war with Tlaxcala, and knew of the
affairs at Potonchan and Tabasco and Cingapacinga, and
now about that at Cholula, he was dazed and even afraid.
After much deliberation he despatched six chieftains with
a present of gold and jewels of a variety of shapes which
were estimated to be worth over two thousand dollars,
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AND BIDS CORTES COME TO MEXICO. 28

and he sent certain loads of very rich mantles beautifully
worked.

When the Chiefs came before Cortés with the present
they touched the ground with their hands and with great
reverence, such as they use among themselves, they said—
“ Malinche, Our Lord the Great Montezuma, sends thee
this present, and asks thee to accept it with the great
affection which he has for thee and all thy brethren, and
he says that the annoyance that the people of Cholula have
caused him weighs heavily on him, and he wishes to punish
them more in their persons, for they are an evil and a
lying people in that they have thrown the blame of the
wickedness which they wished to commit upon him and
his ambassadors,” that we might take it as very certain
that he was our friend, and that we could go to his City
whenever we liked, for he wished to do us every honour as
very valiant men, and the messengers of such a great King
as you say that he (your King) is. But because he had
nothing to give us to eat, for everything has to be carried
into the city by carriers as it is built on the lake, he could
not entertain us very satisfactorily, but he would endeavour
to do us all the honour that was possible, and he had
ordered all the towns through which we had to pass to
give us what we might need. He also made many other
complimentary speeches. When Cortés understood them
through our interpreters, he received the present with
demonstrations of affection and embraced the messengers,
and ordered them to be given certain twisted cut glass
beads. All our captains and soldiers were delighted at
such good news, as that he [Montezuma] should bid us to
come to his city, for, from day to day, the greater number
of us soldiers were wishing for it, especially those who
had left nothing behind them in the Island of Cuba, and
had been on the two expeditions of discovery before
this one with Cortés.
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26 TLAXCALAN ALLIES TO ACCOMPANY CORTES.

Let us leave this subject and say that the Captain gave
the Ambassadors a suitable and affectionate reply and
ordered the messengers who had come with the present
to remain with us as guides and the other three to return
with the answer to their Prince, and to advise him that we
were already on the road.

When the Chief Caciques of Tlaxcala, whom I nave
often mentioned before, named Xicotenga the elder and
the blind, and Mase Escasi, understood that we were going,
their souls were afflicted and they sent to say to Cortés
that they had already warned him many times that he
should be careful what he was about, and should refrain
from entering such a strong city where there was so much
war-like preparation and such a multitude of warriors, for
one day or the other we would be attacked, and they feared
that we would not escape alive, and on account of the good
will that they bore us, they wished to send ten thousand
men under brave captains to go with us and carry food for
the journey.

Cortés thanked them heartily for their good wishes and
told them that it was not just to enter into Mexico with
such a host of warrors, especially when one party was so
hostile to the other, that he only had need of one thousand
men to carry the tepusques and the baggage, and to clear
some of the roads, (I have already said that zepusques
was the name they gave in these parts to the iron cannon
which we carried with us) and they at once sent us the
thousand Indians very well equipped.
~ Just as we were ready to set out, there came to Cortés,
all the Caciques and all the principal warriors whom we
had brought from Cempoala, who had marched in our com-
pany and served us well and loyally, and said that they
wanted to go back to Cempoala and not to proceed beyond
Cholula in the direction of Mexico, for they felt certain that
if they went there it would be for them and for us to go to
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THE CEMPOALANS RETURN TO THEIR IIOMES. 27

our deaths. The Great Montezuma would order them to
be killed because they were leading chiefs of Cempoala, and
had broken their fealty by refusing to pay him tribute and
by imprisoning his tax gatherers when the rebellion took
place which [ have already written about in the course of
this story.

When Cortés observed the determination with which they
demanded permission, he answered them through Dofia
Marina and Aguilar that they need not have the slighest fear
that they would come to any harm, for, as they would go
in our company, who would dare to annoy either them or
us? and he begged them to change their minds and stay
with us, and he promised to make them rich. Although
Cortés pressed them to stay, and Dofia Marina put it in
the most warm-hearted manner, they never wished to stay,
but only to return to their homes. When Cortés per-
ceived this he said, “ God forbid that these Indians who
have served us so well should be forced to go,” and he
sent for many loads of rich mantles and divided them
among them, and he also sent to our friend the fat
Cacique who was Lord of Cempoala two loads of mantles
for himself and for his nephew the other great Cacique
named Cuesco. He also wrote to his lieutenant Juan de
Escalante whom we had left there as Captain, and who
at that time was Alguacil Mayor, and told him all that
had happened to us, and how we were now on our way to
Mexico, and he told him to look well after his neighbours,
and to keep a good watch, and by day and night to be on
the alert, and to finish building the fortress, and to help the
natives of those towns against the Mexicans, and not to let
any of the soldiers who were with him annoy the [friendly]
natives in any way whatever. When this letter was written
and the people of Cempoala had left us, we set out on our
journey, keeping well on the alert.

35«
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28 THE START FOR MEXICO.

CHAPTER LXXXVI.

~How we began our march to the City of Mexico, what happened to
us on the road, and what Montezuma sent to say.

WE set out from Cholula in carefully arranged order as we
were always accustomed to do, the mounted scouts examin-
ing the country ahead and some very active foot soldiers
accompanying them, so that should they come to any bad
ground or other obstacle they might help one another;
then [followed] our cannon all ready for action, and the
musketeers and crossbowmen, and then the horsemen in
parties of three so that they could help one another, then all
the rest of the soldiers in good order. I don’t know why
I call all this so clearly to mind, but when writing about
war, one feels obliged to make mention of it, so that it can
be seen how we marched always “with chin on shoulder.”
Marching in this way we arrived that day at some ranchos
standing on a hill about four leagues from Cholula, they
are peopled from Huexotzingo, and [ think they are called
the Ranchos of Yscalpan. To this place soon came the
Caciques and priests of the towns of Huexotzingowhich were
near by, and they were friends and allies of the Tlaxcalans,
and there also came people from other small towns, which
stand on the slopes of the volcano near their boundary line,
who brought us food and a present of golden jewels of
small value, and they. asked Cortés to accept them and not
consider the insignificance of the gift but the good will
with which it was offered. They advised him not to go to
Mexico as it was a very strong city and full of warriors,
where we should run much risk. They also told us to
look out, if- we had decided upon going, for when we had
ascended to the pass we should find two broad roads, one |
leading to a town named Chalco, and the other to another
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THE CHOICE OF ROAD. 29

town called Tlamanalco,! both of them subject to Mexico ;
that the one road was well swept and cleared so as to
induce us to take it, and that the other road had been
closed .up and many great pines and other trees had been
cut down so that horses could not use it and we could not
march along it. That a little way down the side of the
mountain along the road that had been cleared, the
Mexicans (thinking that we must take that road) had cut
away a piece of the hill side, and had made ditches and
barricades, and that certain squadrons of Mexicans had
waited at that point so as to kill us there. So they
counselled us not to go by the road which was clear, but
by the road where the felled trees were, saying that they
would send many men with us to clear it, and as the
Tlascalahs were also with us, between them they would
clear away the trees,and they said that that road came out
at Tlamanalco.

Cortés received their present very kindly and told them
that he thanked them for the counsel they had given him,
and that with God’s help he would not abandon his march
but would go the way they advised him. Early the next
morning we began our march, and it was nearly midday
when we arrived at the ridge of the mountain where we
found the roads just as the people of Huexotzingo had
said. There we rested a little and began to think about the
Mexican squadrons on the intrenched hillside where the
earth works were that they had told us about.

Then Cortés ordered the Ambassadors of the great
Montezuma who came in our company to be summoned,
and he asked them how it was that those two roads were

1 Bernal Dfaz seems to have gone wrong in his topography. At
the gap between the two volcanoes the roads probably divided, one
(to the right) going by way of Tlamanalco to Chalco, the other (more
direct) going to Amecameca. The Spaniards probably took the more
direct (the blocked up) road to Amecameca, and did not go to
Tlamanalco at all. Cortés, in his second letter, says that he went to
Amecameca, and does not mention Tlamanalco.

Diaz del Castillo, Bernal. The Conquest of New Spain, Vol. 2.
E-book, Nendeln: Kraus Reprint, 1967, https://hdl.handle.net/2027/heb06852.0002.001.
Downloaded on behalf of 3.144.90.204



30 CORTES CHOOSES THE BLOCKED UP ROAD.

in that condition, one very clean and swept and the other
covered with newly-felled trees. They replied that it was
done so that we should go by the cleared road which led
to a city named Chalco, where the people would give us a
good reception, for it belonged to their Prince Montezuma,
and that they had cut the trees and closed up the other
road to prevent our going by it, for there were bad passes
on it, and it went somewhat round about before going to
Mexico, and came out at another town which was neot
as large as Chalco. Then Cortés said that he wished
to go by the blocked up road, and we began to ascend the
mountain with the greatest caution, our allies moving aside
the huge thick tree trunks, by which we had to pass, with
great labour, and some of them still lie by the roadside to
this very day. As we rose higher it began to snow and
the snow caked on the ground. Then we descended the
hill and went to sleep at a group of houses! which they
build like inns or hostels where the Indian traders lodge,
and we supped well, but the cold was intense, and we
posted our watchmen, sentinels, and patrols and even sent
out scouts. The next day we set out on our march, and,
about the hour of high mass, arrived at a town which I
have already said is called Tlamanalco,® where they
received us well and where there was no scarcity of food.

When the other towns [in the neighbourhood] heard of
our arrival, people soon came from Chalco and joined with
the people of Tlamanalco, and they came from Chimaloa-
can and Mecameca and from Acacingo® where the canoes
are, for it is their port, and other small towns whose names
I cannot now call to mind. All of them together brought
a present of gold and two loads of mantles and ecight
Indian women and the gold was worth over one hundred

1 Padre Rivera gives the name as Ithualco (Anales Mexicanos).
2 Amecameca according to Cortés, 38 Ayotzingo.
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NATIVES COMPLAIN OF MONTEZUMA'S TYRANNY. 31

and fifty pesos and they said :—“ Malinche, accept these
presents which we give you and look on us in the future
as your friends.” Cortés received them with great good will
and promised to help them in whatever they needed, and
when he saw them together he told the Padre de la Merced
to counsel them regarding matters touching our holy faith,
and that they should give up their Idols, and he told them
all that we were accustomed to say in all the towns through
which we had passed, and to all this they replied that it
was well said and that they would see to it in the future.
Cortés also explained to them about the great power of
our Lord, the Emperor, and how we had come to right
wrangs and to stop robbery, for it was for this purpose that
our Emperor sent us to these countries.

When they heard this, all these towns that 1 have
named, secretly, so that the Mexican Ambassadors should
not hear them, made great complaints about Montezuma
and his tax gatherers, who robbed them of all they pos-
sessed, and violated their wives and daughters, if they were
handsome, before them and their husbands, and carried
them off, and made the men work as though they were
slaves, and made them carry pine timber and stone and
firewood and maize either in their canoes or over land, and
many other services such as planting cornfields, and they
took their lands for the service of the Idols. They made
many other complaints, which, as it was many years ago,
I do not remember.

Cortés comforted them with kindly words which he knew
well how to say to them through Dofia Marina, but added
that at the present moment, he could not undertake to see
justice done them and they must bear it awhile [and]
he would [presently] frec them from that rule, and he
secretly ordered two of their chiefs to go with four of our
Tlaxcalan allies, and inspect the cleared road, which the
people of Huexotzingo had told us not to follow, and to
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32 CORTES PROMISES REDRESS OF WRONGS.

see what ditches and ramparts there were there, and if
there were any squadrons of warriors. But the Caciques
answered him—* Malinche, there is no necessity to go and
see, for it is now all levelled and put right, for you should
know that six days ago there was a difficult pass there, for
they had cut away the hill so that you could not get by,
and many warriors of the Great Montezuma [were stationed
there], but we have learnt that their Huichilobos, who is
their god of War, advised them to allow you to pass, for
when you have entered the city of Mexico there they will
kill you. Therefore, we are of opinion that you should
stay here with us, and we will give you what we possess,
and that you should give up going to Mexico, as we know
for certain it is very strong and full of warriors, and they
will not spare your lives.”

Cortés replied to them, with a cheerful mien, that we had
no fear that the Mexicans, or any other nation, could
destroy us, only our Lord God in whom we believe, and,
so that they should understand, we were going to explain
to Montezuma himself and all his Caciques and priests,
what our God had commanded. As we wished to start at
once, he asked them to give him twenty of their principal
men to go in his company ; and he would do much for
them, and would have justice done to them as soon as he
arrived in Mexico, so that neither Montezuma nor his
tax gatherers should perpetrate the abuses nor use the
violence which they said had been used towards them.

With cheerful faces the people from all these towns I
have named gave satisfactory replies to this speech and
they brought us the twenty Indians, and just as we were
ready to set out, messengers arrived from the Great
Montezuma, and what they said I will go on to relate.
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MONTEZUMA ATTEMPTS TO BRIBE CORTES. 33

CHAPTER LXXXVIIL

How the great Montezuma again sent other Ambassadors to us
with a present nf gold and cloths, and what they said to” Cortés
and what he replied to them.

As we were starting on our march to Mexico there came
before Cortés four Mexican chiefs sent by Montezuma
who brought a present of gold and cloths. After they
had made obeisance according to their custom, they said
—“ Malinche, our Lord the Great Montezuma sends you
this present and says that he is greatly concerned for the
hardships you have endured in coming from such a dis-
tant land in order to see him, and that he has already
sent to tell you that he will give you much gold and
silver and chalchihuites as tribute for your Emperor and
for yourself and the other Teules in your company, provided
you will not come to Mexico, and now again he begs as a
favour, that you will not advance any further but return
whence you have come, and he promises to send you to the
port a great quantity of gold and silver and rich stones for
that King of yours, and, as for you, he will give you four
loads of gold and for each of your brothers one load, but as
for going on to Mexico your entrance into it is forbidden,
for all his vassals have risen in arms to prevent your entry,
and besides this there is no road thither, only a very
narrow one, and there is no food for you to eat” And he
used many other arguments about the difficulties to the
end that we should advance no further.

Cortés with much show of affection embraced the Am-
bassadors, although the message grieved him, and he
accepted the present; I forget how much it was worth,
but, as far as I could see and understand, Montezuma
never omitted to send gold, little or much, when he sent
messengers, as [ have already related. To return to our

VOL. IL D
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34 CORTES DECLINES THE BRIBE

story, Cortés answered them that he marvelled how the Lord
Montezuma, having given himself out as our friend, and
being such a great Prince, should be so inconstant; that
one time he says one thing and another time sends to
order the contrary, and regarding what he says about
giving gold to our Lord the Emperor and to ourselves,
he is grateful to him for it, and what he sends him now
he will pay for in good works as time goes on. How can
he deem it befitting that being so near to his city, we
should think it right to return on our road without carry-
ing through what our Prince has commanded us to do? If
the Lord Montezuma had sent his messengers and am-
bassadors to some great prince such as he is himself, and
if, after nearly reaching his house, those messengers whom
he sent should turn back without speaking to the Prince
about that which they were sent to say, when they came
back into his [Montezuma’s] presence with such a story,
what favour would he show them? He would merely
treat them as cowards of little worth ; and this is what our
Emperor would do with us, so that in one way or another
we were determined to enter his city, and from this time
forth he must not send any more excuses on the subject,
for he [Cortés] was bound to see him, and talk to him and
explain the whole purpose for which we had come, and
this he must do to him personally. Then after he under-
stood it all, if our presence in the city did not seem good
to him, we would return whence we had come. As for what
he said about there being little or no food, not enough to
support us, we were men who could get along even if we
have but little to eat, and we were already on the way to
his city, so let him take our coming in good part.

As soon as the messengers had been despatched, we set
out for Mexico, and as the people of Huexotzingo and
Chalco had told us that Montezuma had held consultations
with his Idols and priests whether he should allow us to
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AND CONTINUES HIS MARCH. 35

enter Mexico, or whether he should attack us, and all the
priests had answered that his Huichilobos had said he was
to allow us to enter and that then he could kill us, as I
have already related in the chapter that deals with the
subject, and as we are but human and feared death, we
never ceased thinking about it. As that country is very
thickly peopled we made short marches, and commended
ourselves to God and to Our Lady his blessed Mother, and
talked about how and by what means we could enter [the
City), and it put courage into our hearts'to think that as
our Lord Jesus Christ had vouchsafed us protection through
past dangers, he would likewise guard us from the power of
the Mexicans. '

We went to sleep at a town called Iztapalatengo! where
half the houses are in the water and the other half on dry
land, where there is a small mountain, (and now there is an
Inn there) and there they gave us a good supper.

Let us leave this and return to the Great Montezuma
who, when his messengers arrived and he heard the reply
which Cortés had sent to him, at once determined to send
his nephew named Cacamatzin, the Lord of Texcoco, with
great pomp to bid welcome to Cortés and to all of us, and
as we were always accustomed to post sentinels and scouts,
one of the scouts came in to tell us that a large crowd of
friendly Mexicans was coming along the road, and that
to all appearance they were coming clad in rich mantles.
It was very early in the morning when this happened,
and we were ready to start, and Cortés ordered us to
wait in our quarters until he could see what the matter
was.

At that moment four chieftains arrived, who made deep
obeisance to Cortés and said that close by there was
approaching Cacamatzin, the great Lord of Texcoco, a

! This is clearly a mistaké, the town was Ayotzingo.
D2
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36 CACAMATZIN’S GREETING.

nephew of the Great Montezuma, and he begged us to
have the goodness to wait until he arrived.

He did not tarry long, for he soon arrived with greater
pomp and splendour than we had ever beheld ina Mexican
Prince, for he came in a litter richly worked in green
feathers, with many silver borderings, and rich stones set
in bosses made out of the finest gold. Eight Chieftains,
who, it was said, were all Lords of Towns, bore the litter
on their shoulders. When they came near to the house
where Cortés was quartered, the Chieftains assisted
Cacamatzin to descend from the litter, and they swept the
ground, and removed the straws where he had to pass, and
when they came before our Captain they made him a deep
reverence, and Cacamatzin said—

“ Malinche, here we have come, I and these Chieftains
to place ourselves at your service, and to give you all that
you may need for yourself and your companions and to place
you in your home, which is our city, for so the Great
Montezuma our Prince has ordered us to do, and he asks
your pardon that he did not come with us himself, but it
is on account of ill-health that he did not do so, and not
from want of very good will which he bears towards
you.”

When our Captain and all of us, beheld such pomp and
majesty in those chiefs, especially in the nephew of
Montezuma, we considered it a matter of the greatest
importance, and said among ourselves, if this Cacique
bears himself with such dignity, what will the Great
Montezuma do ?

When Cacamatzin had delivered his speech, Cortés
embraced him, and gave many caresses to him and all
the other Chieftains, and gave him three stones which are
called Margaritas, which have within them many markings
of different colours, and to the other chieftains he gave
blue glass beads, and he told them that he thanked them
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THE CUITLAHUAC CAUSEWAY. 37

and when he was able he would repay the Lord Montezuma
for all the favours which every day he was granting us.

As soon as the speech-making was over, we at once set
out,and as the Caicques whom I have spoken about brought
many followers with them, and as many people came out
to see us from the neighbouring towns, all the roads were
full of them.!

The next day, in the morning, we arrived at a broad
Causeway? and continued our march towards Iztapalapa,
and when we saw so many cities and villages built in the
water and other great towns on dry land and that straight
and level causeway going towards Mexico, we were amazed
and said that it was like the enchantments they tell of in
the legend of Amadis, on acceunt of the great towers and
cues and buildings rising from the water, and all built of
masonry. And some of our soldiers even asked whether
the things that we saw were not a dream? It is not to
be wondered at that [ here write it down in this manner,
for there is so much to think over that I do not know how
to describe it, seeing things as we did that had never been
heard of or seen before, not even dreamed about.

Thus, we arrived near Iztapalapa, to behold the

1 Blotted out in the onginal—‘‘So that we could not proceed and
the Caciques themselves told their vassals to make room for us, and
to remember that we were Teules, and that if they did not make
room we would be angry with them. On account of these words that
were said they cleared the road for us, and we went on to sleep at
another town, which is built in the water, which I think was called
Mezquique,? and was afterwards named Venezuela, and it had many
whitened towers and Cues, and the Cacique and chieftains treated us
with much honour and gave Cortés a present of gold and rich
mantles, and the gold was worth four hundred dollars and Cortés
gave them many thanks for it. There we told them things about our
holy faith as we did in all towns we came to. It seemed that the
people of that town were on very bad terms with Montezuma on
account of the many injuries he had done them and they complained
of them and Cortés told them that he would soon remedy their ills if
it should please God that we should soon reach Mexico.”

2 Mexquic.
3 The Causeway of Cuitlahuac separating the lake of Chalco from
the lake of Xochimilco.
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38 WONDERFUL SIGHTS IN JZTAPALAPA.

splendour of the other Caciques who came out to meet us,
who were the Lord of the town named Cuitlahuac,! and the
Lord of Culuacan, both of them near relations of Montezuma.
And then when we entered that city of Iztapalapa, the
appearance of the palaces in which they lodged us! How
spacious and well built they were, of beautiful stone work
and cedar wood, and the wood of other sweet scented trees,
with great rooms and courts, wonderful to behold, covered
with awnings of cotton cloth.

When we had looked well at all of this, we went to the
orchard and garden, which was such a wonderful thing to
see and walk in, that I was never tired of looking at the
diversity of the trees, and noting the scent which each one
had, and the paths full of roses and flowers, and the many
fruit trees and native roses, and the pond of fresh water.
There was another thing to observe, that great canoes were
able to pass into the garden from the lake through an
opening that had been made so that there was no need
for their occupants to land. And all was cemented and
very splendid with many kinds of stone [monuments] with
pictures on them, which gave much to think about. Then
the birds of many kinds and breeds which came into the
pond. I say again that I stood looking at it and thought
that never in the world would there be discovered other
lands such as these, for at that time there was no Peru,
nor any thought of it. [Of all these wonders that I then
beheld] to-day all is overthrown and lost, nothing left
standing.

Let us go on,and I will relate that the Caciques of that
town and of Coyoacan?® brought us a present of gold, worth
more than two thousand dollars, and Cortés gave them
hearty thanks for it, and showed them much affection, and
he told them through our interpreters things concerning

1 Coadlabaca in the text. ? Cuyuacan in the text.
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APPROACHING THE CITY OF MEXICO. 39

our holy faith, and explained to them the great power of
our Lord, thec Emperor, and as there were was much other
conversation, [ will not repeat it.

I must state that at that time this was a very large town,
half of the houses being on land and the other half in the
water, and now at this time it is all dry land and they plant
corn where it was formerly lake, and it is so changed in
other ways that if one had not then seen it, one would say
that it is impossible that what are now fields planted with
maize, could at one time have been covered with water.

I will leave off here and will tell of the solemn reception
given by Montezuma to Cortés and all of us when we
entered the great city of Mexico.

CHAPTER LXXXVIIL

About the great and solemn reception which the Great Montezuma
gave Cortés and all of us at the entering of the great City of
Mexico.

EARLY next day we left Iztapalapa with a large escort of
those great Caciques whom I have already mentioned. We
proceeded along the Causeway which is here eight paces in
width and runs so straight to the City of Mexico that it
does not seem to me to turn either much or little, but, broad
as it is, it was so crowded with people that there was hardly
room for them all, some of them going to and others
returning from Mexico, besides those who had come out to
see us, so that we were hardly able to pass by the crowds of
them that came; and the towers and cues were full of
people as well as the canoes from all parts of the lake. It
was not to be wondered at, for they had never before seen
horses or men such as we are. ,

Gazing on such wonderful sights, we did not know what
to say, or whether what appeared before us was real, for on

36

Diaz del Castillo, Bernal. The Conquest of New Spain, Vol. 2.
E-book, Nendeln: Kraus Reprint, 1967, https://hdl.handle.net/2027/heb06852.0002.001.
Downloaded on behalf of 3.144.90.204



40 THE MARCH ALONG THE CAUSEWAY.

one side, on the land, there were great cities, and in the
lake ever so many more, and the lake itself was crowded
with canoes, and in the Causeway were many bridges at
intervals, and in front of us stood the great City of Mexico,
and we,—we did not even number four hundred soldiers!
and we well remembered the words and warnings given us by
the people of Huexotzingo and Tlaxcala and Tlamanalco,
and the many other warnings that had been given that we
should beware of entering Mexico, where they would kill
us, as soon as they had us inside.

Let the curious readers consider whether there is not
much to ponder over in this that [ am writing. What
men have there been in the world who have shown such
daring? But let us get on, and march along the Causeway.
When we arrived where another small causeway branches
off (leading to Coyoacan, which is another city) where
there were some buildings like towers, which are their
oratories, many more chieftains and Caciques approached
clad in very rich mantles, the brilliant liveries of one
chieftain differing from those of another, and the cause-
ways were crowded with them. The Great Montezuma
had sent these great Caciques in advance to receive
us, and when they came before Cortés they bade us
welcome in their language, and as a sign of peace, they
touched their hands against the ground, and kissed the
ground with the hand.

There we halted for a good while, and Cacamatzin, the
Lord of Texcoco,and the Lord of Iztapalapa and the Lord
of Tacuba and the Lord of Coyoacan went on in advance to
meet the Great Montezuma, who was approaching! in a
rich litter accompanied by other great Lords and Caciques,
who owned vassals. When we arrived near to Mexico, where
there were some other small towers, the Great Montezuma

1 Que venia cerca.
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THE MEETING OF CORTES AND MONTEZUMA. 41

got down from his litter, and those great Caciques
supported him with their arms beneath a marvellously
rich canopy of green coloured feathers with much gold
and silver embroidery and with pearls and chalchihuites
suspended from a sort of bordering, which was wonderful
to look at. The Great Montezuma was richly attired
according to his usage, and he was shod with sandals
[cotoras], for so they call what they wear on their feet, the
soles were of gold and the upper part adorned with precious
stones. The four Chieftains who supported his arms were
also richly clothed according to their usage, in garments
which were apparently held ready for them on the road to
enable them to accompany their prince, for they did not
appear in such attire when they came to receive us.
Besides these four Chieftains, there were four other great
Caciques, who supported the canopy over their heads, and
many other Lords who walked before the Great
Montezuma, sweeping the ground where he would tread
and spreading cloths on it, so that he should not tread on
the earth. Not one of these chieftains dared even to think
of looking him in the face, but kept their eyes lowered
with great reverence, except those four relations, his
nephews, who supported him with their arms.

When Cortés was told that the Great Montezuma was
approaching, and he saw him coming, he dismounted
from his horse, and when he was near Montezuma, they
simultaneously paid great reverence to one another.
Montezuma bade him welcome and our Cortés replied
through Dofia Marina wishing him very good health.
And it seems to me that Cortés, through Dofia Marina’
offered him his right hand, and Montezuma did not wish
to take it, but he did give his hand to Cortés and then
Cortés brought out a necklace which he had ready at hand,
made of glass stones, which I have already said are called
Margaritas, which have within them many patterns of
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42 CROWDS WATCH THE ENTRY INTO MEXICO.

diverse colours, these were strung on a cord of gold and
with musk so that it should have a sweet scent, and he
placed it round the neck of the Great Montezuma and
when he had so placed it he was going to embrace him,
and those great Princes who accompained Montezuma
held back Cortés by the arm so that he should not em-
brace him, for they considered it an indignity.

Then Cortés through the mouth of Dofia Marina told
him that now his heart rejoiced at having seen such a great
Prince, and that he took it as a great honour that he had
come in person to meet him and had frequently shown him
such favour.

Then Montezuma spoke other words of politeness to
him, and told two of his nephews who supported his arms,
the Lord of Texcoco and the Lord of Coyoacan, to go with
us and show us to our quarters, and Montezuma with his
other two relations, the Lord of Cuitlahuac! and the Lord
of Tacuba who accompanied him, returned to the city,
and all those grand companies of Caciques and chieftains
who had come with him returned in his train. As they
turned back after their Prince we stood watching them and
observed how they all marched with their eyes fixed on
the ground without looking at him, keeping close to the
wall, following him with great reverence. Thus space was
made for us to enter the streets of Mexico, without being
so much crowded. But who could now count the multitude
of men and women and boys who were in the streets and
on the azoteas, and in canoes on the canals, who had come
out to see us. It was indeed wonderful, and, now that [ am
writing about it, 4t all comes before my eyes as though it
had happened but yesterday. Coming to think it over
it seems to be a great mercy that our Lord Jesus Christ
was pleased to give us grace and courage to dare to enter

1 Cuedlabaca in the text.
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SPANIARDS LODGED IN AXAYACA’S PALACE. 43

into such a city ; and for the many times He has saved
me from danger of death, as will be seen later on, I give
Him sincere thanks, and in that He has preserved me
to write about it, although I cannot do it as fully as is
fitting or the subject needs. Let us make no words about
it, for deeds are the best witnesses to what I say here and
elsewhere.

Let us return to our entry to Mexico. They took us
to lodge in some large houses, where there were apart-
ments for all of us, for they had belonged to the father of
the Great Montezuma, who was named Axayaca, and at
that time Montezuma kept there the great oratories for
his idols, and a secret chamber where he kept bars and
jewels of gold, which was the treasure that he had
inherited from his father Axayaca, and he never disturbed
it. They took us to lodge in that house, because they
called us Teules, and took us for such, so that we should be
with the Idols or Teules which were kept there. However,
for one reason or another, it was there they took us,
where there were great halls and chambers canopied with
the cloth of the country for our Captain, and for every one
of us beds of matting with canopies above, and no better
bed is given, however great the chief may be, for they
are not used. And all these palaces were [coated] with
shining cement and swept and garlanded.

As soon as we arrived and entered into the great
court, the Great Montezuma took our Captain by the hand,
for he was there awaiting him, and led him to the
apartment and saloon where he was to lodge, which was
very richly adorned according to their usage, and he had
at hand a very rich necklace made of golden crabs, a
marvellous piece of work, and Montezuma himself placed
it round the neck of our Captain Cortés, and greatly
astonished his [own] Captains by the great honour that
he was bestowing on him. When the necklace had been
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44 . MONTEZUMA’S GREETING.

fastened, Cortés thanked Montezuma through our inter-
preters, and Montezuma replied—*“ Malinche you and
your brethren are in your own house, rest awhile,” and
then he went to his palaces which were not far away, and
we divided our lodgings by companies, and placed the
artillery pointing in a convenient direction, and the order
which we had to keep was clearly explained to us, and
that we were to be much on the alert, both the cavalry and
all of us soldiers. A sumptuous dinner was provided for us
according to their use and custom, and we ate it at once.
So this was our lucky and daring entry into the great
city of Tenochtitlan! Mexico on the 8th day of November
the year of our Saviour Jesus Christ 1519.

Thanks to our Lord Jesus Christ for it all. And if I
have not said anything that I ought to have said, may
your honours pardon me, for I do not know now even
at the present time how better to express it.

Let us leave this talk and go back to our story of what
else happened to us, which I will go on to relate.

! Tenustitan in the text.
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THE VALLEY OF MEXICO.

Introductory Notes to Book VI

THE Valley of Mexico is a level plain about 7424 feet above the sea,
completely surrounded by mountains which leave no exit for the
escape of the water from a fairly abundant rainfall, and as a
consequence the whole valley at one period must have formed one
vast lake, whose volume was limited only by soakage and the very
rapid evaporation due to a tropical sun. At the time of the Conquest
the area of the surface of the lakes was (very roughly) 442 square
miles.

A red line on the map! marks the shape and size of this basin,
taking as a limit the crests of the mountains and hills that surround it
and the dividing line of the watershed ; this includes about 3110
square miles. :

The mountains surrounding the valley may be roughly divided
into three ranges. To the East the Sierra Nevada, with the great
peaks of Popocatepetl (17,887 ft.) and Ixtaccihuatl (17,342 ft.) capped
with perpetual snow, and the three lower peaks to the North, Papayo,
Telapon and Tlaloc; to the South lies the great volcanic barrier
of Ajusco, to the West the range of Las Cruces, and to the North that
of Pachuca. Towards the south part of the valley the intrusion of
the low volcanic cones of Chimalhuacan, Santa Catarina, la- Estrella
and their neighbours, reduced the water surface between the lakes of
Xochimilco and Texcoco to a narrow space, and, to the north of the
valley, the northern end of the Sierra de Guadalupe and the volcano
of Chiconahutla narrowed the water space between the lakes of
Texcoco and Xaltocan. The rainfall appears to be more considerable
on the western than on the eastern side of the lakes. The streams
flowing into the lakes are of necessity short in their courses and
mostly torrential, by far the most important being the Rio de
Guatitlan on the North-west.

Although the lakes have received different names, the water
surface must have been continuous until separated by the earth-
works of the Indians. Starting from the North the lakes are named
Zumpango, Xaltocan (the southern part was called San Cristébal by
the Spaniards), Texcoco, Xochimilco and Chalco.

Of this chain of lakes Texcocolies lowest, and measurements made
in recent years, after much of the water had been drained away, show
the following heights above the level of Texcoco. To this list is also

! Map No. 1.
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46 THE VALLEY OF MEXICO.

appended the depths of the lakes as determined by the drainage
commission of 1861.

Level above Texcoco Depth in
Name. y in }:I)\/Ietre: MpetreS.
Texcoco ... 0.00 0.50
Zumpango 6.06 0.80
Xaltocan ... 3.47 0.40
San Cristébal ... 3.60 0.60
Xochimilco 3.14 2.40 to 3.00
Chalco ... 3.08 2.40
City of Mexico ... 1.90 —

Silt may have made a considerable difference to the level of the
lakes during four hundred years, but no possible allowance for silt
could alter the conclusion that at the time of the Conquest the lakes
must have been very shallow.

The site of the City was originally, in all probability, two reed-
covered mud banks or islands, which may have been cultivated in
much the same manner as were the cAiznampas or floating gardens
at the time of the Conquest, or as the chinampas of Xochimilco are
at the present day, and these two islands became respectively the
sites of the towns of Tlatelolco and Tenochtitlan, and the space
between them was eventually reduced to a rather broad canal.

Islands in lakes, or rocky knolls on the land surrounded by deep
barrancas or gulches, were frequently chosen by the Indians tribes
as sites for towns on account of the facility for defence, and the
number of such sites in Mexico and Central America! still either
occupied by towns or containing the ruins of ancient buildings are
evidence of a continual state of intertribal walfare.

The chinampas were formed by heaping up the soft mud from
the lake on to wattles in order to form seed beds for flowers and
vegetables, and these floating gardens gradually increased in size
and became more compact from the growth of the interlacing
roots of the willows and other water - loving plants until they
may have supported a small hut for the owner and his family,
and the lengthening roots eventually anchored them on the shallow
margin of the lake. Two large groups of such gardens are shown
on the map published in Clavigero’s History of Mexico lying off

U Cf. Mixquic, Tlahuac and Xochimilco in the lakes of Mexico,
Tayasal in the lake of Peten, and the island homes of the Lacandones
in Guatemala. Towns almost surrounded by barrancas are
Cuernavaca and Yacapistla in Mexico, and Utatlan and Ixiinché, etc.,
in Guatemala. It is as well to note here that such sites were not
chosen for cities of the older culture such as Teotihuacan, Cholula,
Mitla, Palenque, Copan, etc.
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THE VALLEY OF  MEXICO. 47

Iztapalapa and Xochimilco, and at the present day a similar form of
cultivation, although the gardens are no longer floating, may be seen
at Xochimilco and along the banks of the Viga Canal, the water-way
connecting Xochimilco with the City of Mexico.

These gardens are divided into long narrow strips with canals
running between just wide enough for the passage of a dug-out
canoe. The Indian cultivator poles his canoe along the narrow
channels and scoops up the soft mud from the bottom to spread it
over the land, and splashes the water over the growing plants with
his paddle. It was probably this method of cultivation which gave
the mainly rectangular arrangement of the streets of the City of
Mexico, the more unsymmetrical canals showing the original water
ways between the mud banks, while the aggregation of chinampas
may have left an irregular margin of outlying houses and gardens.

The very slight difference in level between the Lake of Texcoco and
the site of the City made the latter liable to frequent inundations, and
this difficulty was met by the inhabitants by engineering works of
considerable importance. A causeway was built passing through the
island town of Tlahuac, dividing the Lake of Chalco from that of
Xochimilco,and a second causeway separated the waters of Xochimilco
from those of Texcoco. The City of Mexico had probably already
been joined to the mainland, for purposes of communication, by the
causeways of Tlacopan (Tacuba) and Tepeyac (Guadalupe), and a
third and longer causeway was added by connecting the City with the
barrier holding back the waters of Xochimilco ; this third causeway
was known as the causeway of Iztapalapa. The lakes of Zumpango
and Zaltocan were also traversed by causeways, but it is not now
possible to locate their position.

These various causeways did much to control the movement of
the waters of the lakes during the rainy season, but they were
not sufficient to prevent serious inundations, and native tradition and
a picture in a Mexican codex! go to prove that during the reign of
Motecuhzoma (Montezuma) Illhuicamina, between the years 1440 and
1450, a very wet season caused the waters of Lake Texcoco to rise so
much that the City was almost destroyed and the inhabitants had to
take refuge in their canoes and piraguas. Montezuma applied for
assistance and advice to his friend Netzahualcoyotl the King of
Texcoco, and under his sage direction a great dyke was constructed,
known as the “Albarradon of Nezhualcoyotl.”

“This gigantic dyke started from Atzacualco on the North and
followed a straight line to the South as far as Ixtapalapa at. the
foot of the hill called la Estrella. This great work, which was
sixteen kilometres? in length, was constructed of stone and clay

1 «“Codex Telleriano Remeusio,” ¢ Ten miles.
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48 THE VALLEY OF MEXICO.

and crowned with a strong wall of rubble masonry, and was pro-
tected on both sides by a strong stockade which broke the force of
the waves.

“The dyke divided the lake into two parts, the larger to the East
was known as the Lake of Texcoco, from the city situated on its shores,
the lesser to the West was called the Lake of Mexico because the
capital was surrounded by its waters on all sides. From this arrange-
ment Mexico derived an aggregate of inestimable benefits. The
great lake, like all lakes having no outlet for their waters, was salt,
notwithstanding the volume of all the rivers which flowed into it, or
in fact it owed its saltness to this very flow which carried in its current
the soluble salts which the falling rain has robbed from the land.
The salt water saturating the soil has little by little rendered it
sterile, and in addition, the carbonate of soda and the thousand other
impurities with which it is charged are hostile to animal life to such
an extent that fishes could not live in it, neither to-day nor at the time
of the Conquest, as was stated by the writers at that epoch, although
the water was then less salt than it is at the present. As the lakes
of fresh water to the south poured their surplus water into the lake of
Mexico through the narrows of Culhuacan and Mexicaltzingo, those
waters spread through the western lake, the Lake of Mexico, and
completely filled it, separated as it was from the salt lake by the dyke
of Netzahualcoyotl. In this way the basin of fresh water was
converted into a fish pond and a home for all sorts of aquatic
fowl. Chinampas covered its surface, separated by limpid spaces
which were furrowed by swift canoes, and all the suburbs of this
enchanting capital became flowery orchards.”!

It will be noticed in the Upsala map that within the dyke men are
depicted catching fish, while no fishermen are shown in the Lake
of Texcoco, which was, however, then, as it is now, the home of
numberless wild fowl. The great dyke was provided with numerous
openings for the passage of canoes, but these openings were furnished
with sluice gates which couid be closed during the rainy season when
the water of Texcoco rose and threatened to flood the City, and
could be opened again to let out the fresh water from Mexico when
the rapid evaporation during the summer months had lowered the
level of Texcoco.

The fluctuations of level in the lakes of Chalco and Xochimilco
were probably always less than in Lake Texcoco owing to the great
number of copious springs of beautifully clear water which well up
around their margins, especially on the west side, as well as in the
lake of Xochimilco itself.

1 Francisco de Géray. El valle de Mexico, apuntes historicos sobre
sy hidrographia, pp. 13 & 14.
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THE VALLEY OF MEXICO. 49

Such springs were also to be seen in and around the Lake of
Mexico, but not in such considerable numbers, and there must also
have been one or more on the site of the City which supplied its
earliest inhabitants with drinking water, although in later Indian
times the supply was brought in an aqueduct from a fine spring near
Chapultepec.

“The population of Tenochtitlan (the City of Mexico) at the time
of the conquest is variously stated. No contemporary writer
estimates it at less than sixty thousand houses, which by the
ordinary rules of reckoning would give three hundred thousand
souls. Ifa dwelling often contained, as it asserted, several families,
it would swell the amount considerably higher.” 1

.The supply of food for such a population must have been a matter
of no little difficulty, for the soil on the hill-sides is scanty,
many of the slopes are composed of fepefatle, a mixture of vol-
canic ash and scoria fit only for growing maguey,® and consider-
able surfaces are covered with lava and carry no loam at all.
The scarcity of good soil must have led to an intensive cultivation,
and this is also shown by the care with which manure was collected,3
as is the case in China and Japan to-day. -

Food must have been brought from very considerable distances,
and the want of a sufficient supply from the near neighbourhood
must have had much to do with the predatory nature of the
Aztec dominion.

NOTE ON THE DRAINAGE.

From the time of the Spanish settlement the security of the city
from floods and the drainage of the valley became the preoccupation
of the Spanish Viceroys. After a severe inundation in 1555, Don
Luis de Velasco replaced the Albarradon of Netzahualcoyotl,
which had fallen into decay, by a similar and shorter dyke somewhat
nearer the city. At the beginning of the seventeenth century a
French engineer, Henri Martin, known in Mexico as Enrico Martinez,
planned a system of drainage and a cutting (known as the Zzj0 dJe
Nockistongo) through the mountain rim to the north-east of the valley,
but this work was only partly carried out during the following years
and was not completed until the end of the eighteenth century.

The flood of 1865 again brought the question of drainage into
prominence, and new works, including a large canal and a large
tunnel, were commenced and brought to a satisfactory conclusion
in the year 1900.

The lakes of Zaltocan and Zumpango are now almost dry during
the summer months. The Lake of Chalco has been drained dry,

1 Prescott, Conguest of Mexico.
2 The American aloe, Agave americana, from which pulque is made.
3 Text page 72. ‘ g

VOL. IIL. E
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50 THE CITY OF MEXICO.

excepting the southern edge round Mixcuic, and is now one vast
maize field.

Zochimilco is reduced to a swamp traversed by many water-ways
and the water from its springs is being utilized for the supply of
drinking water to the City. Texcoco alone remains, in a shrunken
condition, and no further drainage of its waters is contemplateq,
as the evaporation from its surface is one of the main factors
contributing to the equable climate of the valley.

THE CITY OF MEXICO.

The two towns of Tenochtitlan and Tlaltelolco appear to have
risen side by side, each retaining control of its own local affairs, until
the time of Axayacatl, the sixth ruler of Tenochtitlan (1473), when,
after a fierce battle in the streets of the City, Tlaltelolco was
conquered, its chiefs killed, and it became a part of the City of
Tenochtitlan. It is, however, this growth of the City in two distinct
parts that accounts for the existence of the two centres of religious
worship, the great teocalli of Tenochtitlan with its surrounding courts
and temples (where the Cathedral of Mexico now stands), and the
still larger and more important teocalli of Tlaltelolco and the adjacent
temples, courts, and priests’ houses, etc., which are so fully described
by Bernal Dfaz in the text.

The following quotation is from the writings of the “ Anonymous
Conqueror,” who himself beheld Mexico in the days of Montezuma:—
“The great city of Temistan (Tenochtitlan), Mexico, has and had
many wide and handsome streets; of these two or three are the
principal streets, and all the others are formed balf of bard earth like
a brick pavement, and the other half of water, so that they can go out
along the land or by water in their boats and canoes which are made
of hollowed wood, and some are large enough to hold five persons.
The inhabitants go abroad some by water in these boats and others
by land, and they can talk to one another as they go. There are
other principal streets in addition, entirely of water which can only be
traversed by boats and canoes, as is their wont, as I have already
said, for without these boats they could neither go in nor out of their
houses.

“And this is the fashion of all the other towns which I have said
are situated on the fresh water part of this lake. There were, and
still are, in this City very handsome and fine houses belonging to the
chieftains, so large and with such offices (£stancias), dwelling rooms,
and gardens both above and below that they are wonderful to behold.
I entered the house of a principal lord more than four times on
purpose to see it, and I always walked about until I was tired, and I
never managed to see the whole of it. It was the custom to have near
the entrance of all the Lords’ houses very large halls and offices around
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a large patio, but in this house there was a hall so vast that it would
easily hold more than three thousand persons, and it was so large
that on the floor above (7.c. the roof) there was a terrace where thirty
horsemen could have run a tilt as in a plaza.”

Cortés in his second letter to the Emperor says : —

“There are many very large and fine houses in this City, and the
reason of there being so many important houses is that all the Lords
of the land who are vassals of the said Montezuma have houses in this
City and reside therein for a certain time of the year, and in addition
to this there are many rich Citizens who also possess very fine houses.
All these houses in addition to having very fine and large dwelling
rooms, have very exquisite flower gardens both on the upper apart-
ments as well as down below.”! _

“ The principal houses were of two stories, but the greater number
of houses were of one storey only. The matenals, according to the
importance of the buildings, were tezontli 2 and lime, adobes 3 formed
the walls plastered with lime, and in the suburbs and shores of the
island (the houses were constructed) of reeds and straw, appropriate
for the fishermen and the lower classes.”

I am strongly of opinion that the very simple style of construction
of the houses of ancient Mexico still survives, and can be seen to-day
in any of the villages in the neighbourhood, and a photograph of such
houses is given facing page 48. There is, however, this difference, that
nowadays the adobe walls of the houses are frequently left bare,
while in ancient Mexico the walls were almost invariably covered with
a highly burnished white plaster.

Of the external ornament or decoration of the more important
houses or palaces we know nothing, as the destruction of the City was
complete. If the ornamentation was elaborate we hear nothing about
it from the conquerers, and it must in any case have been of plaster or
some perishable material, otherwise some fragments of it would have
survived. It seems therefore probable that the architectural decora-
tion of the houses was of a very simple character, and that the more
elaborate stone work was reserved for the teocallis and temples of
their gods.

Notwithstanding the above qualifications, the ancient City of
Tenochtitlan must have been a place of much beauty and even of
considerable magnificence, and it could not have failed to make a
vivid impression on the Spaniards, who, it must be remembered, until
they set foot in Yucatan, two years earlier, had seen nothing better
during the twenty-five years of exploration of America than the houses

! Cortés’ second letter. ] _
2 Tezontli, a volcanic stone, easily worked, of a beautiful dull red
colour. 3 Adobes, sun-dried bricks.
4 Qrozco y Berra, Hist. de Mexico, vol. iv., p. 281.
E2
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52 THE CITY OF MEXICO.

of poles and thatch of Indian tiibes, none of whom had risen above a
state of barbarism. Much no doubt was due to the natural surround-
ings ; the white City with its numerous teocallis was embowered in
trees and surrounded by the blue waters of the lake sparkling under a
tropical sun, a lake that was alive with a multitude of canoes passing
and repassing to the other white cities on its shores, and in every
direction the horizon was closed with a splendid panorama of forest-
covered hills, while to the south-east the eye always rested with
delight on the beautiful slopes and snow-covered peaks of the two
great volcanoes. It is an enchanting scene to-day, in spite of the
shrinkage of the lakes, the smoke from factory chimneys, and the
somewhat squalid surroundings of a modern city, and but little effort
of imagination is needed to appreciate the charm that it must have
exercised in the days of Montezuma.

The Viga Canal still survives as a water-way by which produce is
brought into Mexico from the market gardens or chinampas of Lake
Zochimilco, and it was only at the end of the eighteenth century that
the canal which ran from the Viga Canal along the south side of the
great square past the convent of San Francisco was finally filled in.
For many years the roadway beside it was known as the “ Calle de
Canoas,” and the names Puente de la Lefia (Fire wood bridge),
Portal de las Flores, etc., still mark the localities where the different
commodities were sold on the banks of the Canal. Indeed, the course
of many an old water-way can still be traced in the modern City by
the names which have clung to the localities since the days of the
conquest and are now attached to the streets.

The Upsala map seems to show that there was an embankment or
pallisade along the east side of the City, necessary as a protection
against the wash of the waves from the lake, but on the other sides
the entrance of the numerous canals was probably through tree-lined
chinampas and orchards, similar to the approach to Xochimilco at the
present day. Gardens and groves were evidently numerous in the
City itself ; the Mexicans were distinguished for their love of flowers,
and there is no climate where gardening is more remunerative than in
these tropical highlands when water is plentiful. The flowering plants
cultivated on the roofs of the houses must have added greatly to the
picturesque aspect of the streets and canals.

Bernal Dfaz tells us how clean the surroundings of the great temple
were kept, where not a straw or a spot of dust could be seen (filth
seems to have been confined to the temples themselves where the
horrid rites of their religion were performed), and this cleanliness
probably extended to the City itself, for it will be observed by any
traveller in Mexico or Central America that the purely Indian villages
of considerable size are almost always kept swept and tidy, while this
is not the case in the towns and villages inhabited by the mixed race.
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BOOK VI.

THE STAY IN MEXICO.

CHAPTER LXXXIX.

How the Great Montezuma came to our quarters wtih many Caciques
accompanying him, and the conversation that he had with our
Captain.

HEN the Great Montezuma had
dined and he knew that some time
had passed since our Captain and
all of us had done the same, he
came in the greatest state to

our quarters with a numerous com-
pany of chieftains, all of them his
kinsmen. When Cortés was told that he was approaching
he came out to the middle of the Hall to receive him, and
Montezuma took him by the hand, and they brought
some seats, made according to their usage and very richly
decorated and embroidered with gold in many designs,
and Montezuma asked our Captain to be seated, and
both of them sat down each on his chair. Then Mortezuma
began a very good speech, saying that he was greatly
rejoiced to have in his house and his kingdom such valiant
gentlemen as were Cortés and all of us. That two years
ago he had received news of another Captain who came to
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